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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON 

AT SEATTLE 
 

 
SEATTLE AUDUBON SOCIETY and 
KITTITAS AUDUBON SOCIETY, non-
profit corporations, 
                            
                           Plaintiffs, 
 
v. 
 
DOUG SUTHERLAND, Washington 
Commissioner of Public Lands and Chair 
of the Washington Forest Practices Board, 
in his official capacity; VICKI 
CHRISTIANSEN, Executive Director of 
Regulatory Programs for the Washington 
Department of Natural Resources and 
Alternate Chair of the Washington Forest 
Practices Board, in her official capacity; 
WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT 
OF NATURAL RESOURCES, a 
Washington State agency; SUE 
MAUERMANN, TOM LAURIE, ANN 
WICK, BRIDGET MORAN, DAVE 
SOMERS, DOUG STINSON, SHERRY 
FOX, DAVID HAGIWARA, ALAN 
SOICHER, TOBY MURRAY, and BOB 
KELLY, Washington Forest Practices 
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Board Members, in their official capacities; 
WASHINGTON FOREST PRACTICES 
BOARD, a Washington State agency; and 
WEYERHAEUSER COMPANY, a 
corporation. 
    Defendants. 
___________________________________ 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 
I . INTRODUCTION 

 
1. In this citizen suit, brought pursuant to Section 11(g) of the Endangered Species 

Act (ESA or Act), 16 U.S.C. §1540(g), Plaintiffs Seattle Audubon Society and Kittitas Audubon 

Society seek to enjoin State-authorized logging activities that will destroy Northern Spotted Owl 

(Strix occidentalis caurina) (hereafter “Spotted Owl)”  habitat and take federally-protected 

Spotted Owls in violation of Section 9 of the ESA, 16 U.S.C. §1538.  Under Washington law, 

significant logging operations cannot occur on private land without Defendant Washington State 

Department of Natural Resource’s (WDNR) approval of a Forest Practices Application (FPA).  

WDNR evaluates FPAs based on regulations adopted by the Washington Forest Practices Board 

(WFPB) under the State Forest Practices Act, RCW Ch. 76.09.  The State’s forest practices 

regulations afford almost no protection for Spotted Owls or Spotted Owl habitat located outside 

of certain designated Spotted Owl Special Emphasis Areas (SOSEAs).  

2. Under color of State law, WDNR approves FPAs authorizing timber harvest on 

private land, outside of designated SOSEAs, that destroy Spotted Owl habitat and harm or harass 

Spotted Owls in violation of the ESA.  For example, since 1999, WDNR has approved dozens of 

FPAs submitted by Defendant Weyerhaeuser Company (Weyerhaeuser) and authorized the 

logging of hundreds of acres of occupied Spotted Owl habitat in Southwest Washington.  This 

logging has harmed Spotted Owls by significantly impairing their essential behavioral patterns, 
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including foraging, sheltering, breeding and dispersal.  None of these permits were issued or will 

be logged pursuant to an ESA Section 10 “ incidental take permit,”  which shields from ESA 

liability the “ take”  of listed species resulting from otherwise legal activities.  Consequently, 

while the destruction of Spotted Owls and their habitat authorized by the WDNR is permitted by 

the State’s forest practices regulations, it violates the ESA. 

3. In this litigation, Plaintiffs seek an injunction barring WNDR and its officers and 

employees from approving new FPAs involving the harvest of suitable Spotted Owl habitat in 

owl circles outside of designated SOSEAs until WDNR and the WFPB provide reasonable 

assurances that State-authorized forest practices will not harm or harass Spotted Owls.  Plaintiffs 

also seek an injunction barring Weyerhaeuser from completing already approved FPAs or 

logging suitable Spotted Owl habitat in four owl circles outside SOSEAs in Southwest 

Washington except in compliance with an incidental take permit issued under Section 10 of the 

ESA.  Finally, Plaintiffs seek a declaratory judgment that State forest practices regulations 

purporting to authorize the wholesale destruction of Spotted Owl habitat outside of designated 

SOSEAs are inconsistent with the requirements of ESA, are preempted by federal law, and are 

invalid under the Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution. 

I I . JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

 4. This Court has jurisdiction and the authority to grant the relief requested pursuant 

to 16 U.S.C. §§1540(c) & (g) (ESA), 28 U.S.C. §1331 (federal question), and 28 U.S.C. §2201 et 

seq. (Declaratory Judgment Act). 

5. Plaintiffs have satisfied the jurisdictional requirements for bringing this suit.  

Under Section 11(g)(2)(A)(i) of the ESA, 16 U.S.C. §1540(g)(2)(A)(i), Plaintiffs notified all 
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Defendants of their violations of the ESA and of Plaintiffs’  intent to sue for those violations by 

certified letter sent on April 17, 2006 (“Notice Letter” ).  The Notice Letter is attached to this 

Complaint as Exhibit 1.  Defendants Sutherland, Christiansen, and Weyerhaeuser, their 

predecessors, and/or their authorized agents received a copy of the Notice Letter on April 18, 

2006.  All members of the WFPB, their predecessors, and/or their authorized agents received a 

copy of the notice letter on May 3, 2006. 

6. As required by the ESA, Plaintiffs notified P. Lynn Scarlett, Acting Secretary of 

the Interior and Deputy Secretary of the Interior, and H. Dale Hall, Director of the United States 

Fish and Wildlife Service (FWS), of their intent to sue Defendants by mailing copies of the 

Notice Letter to those officials on April 17, 2006. 

7. More than sixty days have passed since the Notice Letter was served and the 

violations complained of in the Notice Letter are continuing or reasonably likely to continue to 

occur.  The Secretary of the Interior has not commenced an action to impose a penalty pursuant 

to 16 U.S.C. §1540(a) and the United States has not taken any action to prevent continued 

violations of the Act. 

8. Venue is appropriate in the Western District of Washington under Section 

11(g)(3)(A) of the ESA, 16 U.S.C. §1540(g)(3)(A), because alleged violations will occur in this 

district.  Venue is also appropriate in this district under 28 U.S.C. §1391. 

I I I . PARTIES 

9. Plaintiff Seattle Audubon Society (Seattle Audubon) is suing on behalf of itself 

and its members.  Seattle Audubon is a non-profit corporation organized and existing under the 

laws of the State of Washington.  Seattle Audubon is a chapter of the National Audubon Society 
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and maintains its principal place of business in King County, Washington.  Seattle Audubon’s 

purpose is to cultivate and lead a community that values and is committed to the protection of 

birds and their habitat.  Seattle Audubon is a membership organization and has members who are 

injured by Defendants’  violations of the ESA.   

 10. Plaintiff Kittitas Audubon Society (Kittitas Audubon) is suing on behalf of itself 

and its members.  Kittitas Audubon is a non-profit corporation organized and existing under the 

laws of the State of Washington.  Kittitas Audubon is a chapter of the National Audubon Society 

and maintains its principal place of business in Kittitas County, Washington.  Kittitas Audubon 

serves the communities of Kittitas County along the I-90 corridor from the Cascade summit 

(Snoqualmie Pass) through the Kittitas valley.  The mission of Kittitas Audubon is to appreciate 

and conserve nature, especially birds and their habitat, through education and conservation 

efforts.  Kittitas Audubon is a membership organization and has members who are injured by 

Defendants’  violations.   

 11. Plaintiffs have standing to bring this case.  Plaintiffs are organizations whose 

purposes are dedicated to the protection and enjoyment of birds and their natural habitat.  Many 

of Plaintiffs’  members are active birders and devote substantial time and effort to observing and 

photographing birds, including the Spotted Owl, in their natural habitat.  Plaintiff organizations 

sponsor field trips to natural areas in Washington, including private forest lands in Southwest 

Washington, to accommodate their members’  interests in detecting, observing and photographing 

Spotted Owls and other birds in their natural habitat.  Plaintiffs also actively work to protect bird 

habitat, including the forests and woods that support bird populations in Washington State.  

Plaintiffs also sponsor educational, scientific research activities that involve study of Spotted 



 

 

COMPLAINT - 6 Washington Forest Law Center  
615 Second Ave., Suite 360 

Seattle, WA 98104 
(206) 223-4088 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

Owls and other birds and their natural habitat.  Plaintiffs and their members intend to continue all 

of these activities in the future.  Aesthetic, recreational, professional, and other interests of 

Plaintiffs and their members in detecting, observing, photographing, studying, protecting and 

otherwise enjoying Spotted Owls and other birds in their natural habitat are impaired by the 

destruction of Spotted Owl habitat and the harm to Spotted Owls resulting from Defendants’  

violations of the ESA.  The relief sought in this lawsuit can redress the injuries to these interests. 

 12. Defendant Washington State Department of Natural Resources regulates forest 

practices through the review and approval of FPAs on approximately 10 million acres of non-

federal land in Washington, including lands inhabited by the Spotted Owl.  Defendant WDNR 

has a duty to ensure that the FPAs it issues are consistent with the State forest practices 

regulations and other applicable law, including the ESA, and that its approval of FPAs does not 

proximately cause “ take”  of species protected by the ESA.   

 13. Defendant Washington Forest Practices Board is charged with promulgating 

regulations governing the WDNR’s approval of FPAs under the State Forest Practices Act.  The 

WFPB has a duty to ensure that the regulations it promulgates are consistent with the 

requirements of the State Forest Practices Act and other applicable law, including the ESA. 

14. Defendants Mauermann, Laurie, Wick, Moran, Somers, Stinson, Fox, Hagiwara, 

Soicher, Murray, and Kelly are the members of the WFPB and are sued in their official 

capacities. 

 15. Defendant Sutherland is Washington’s Commissioner of Public Lands and the 

administrator and manager of the WDNR.  As Commissioner of Public Lands, Defendant 

Sutherland is also the chair of the WFPB.  Defendant Sutherland is sued in his official capacity. 
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 16. Defendant Vicki Christiansen is the Executive Director of Regulatory Programs 

for the WDNR and a member and alternate Chair of the WFPB.  Defendant Christiansen 

oversees the WDNR’s regulatory program, including WDNR’s review and approval of FPAs.  

Defendant Christiansen is sued in her official capacity. 

17. Defendant Weyerhaeuser Company is a corporation registered in the State of 

Washington, with its principal place of business in Federal Way, King County, Washington.  

Weyerhaeuser is an international forest products company that owns and manages approximately 

1,136,000 acres of forest land in Washington, including approximately 100,000 acres of forest 

land in Southwest Washington that provides habitat for the Spotted Owl.  Weyerhaeuser has a 

duty to ensure that the State-approved logging operations it conducts in suitable Spotted Owl 

habitat do not take Spotted Owls in violation of federal law.    

IV. STATUTORY BACKGROUND 

18. Congress enacted the Endangered Species Act, 16 U.S.C. §§1531 et seq., “ to 

provide a means whereby the ecosystems upon which endangered species and threatened species 

depend may be conserved ... [and] to provide a program for the conservation of such endangered 

species and threatened species....”   16 U.S.C. §1531(b). 

19. Before a species receives any protection under the ESA, FWS must list the species 

as either “ threatened”  or “endangered.”   16 U.S.C. §§1533(a) & (c).  An “endangered species”  is 

one that is “ in danger of extinction throughout all or a significant portion of its range.”   16 U.S.C. 

§1532(6).  A “ threatened species”  is one that is “ likely to become an endangered species within 

the foreseeable future through all or a significant portion of its range.”   16 U.S.C. §1532(20).  
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20.  Under Section 9(a)(1)(B) of the Act, 16 U.S.C. §1538(a)(1)(B), it is illegal to 

engage in any activity that “ takes”  an endangered species.  Regulations adopted by FWS under 

Section 4(d) of the Act, 16 U.S.C. §1533(d), apply the ESA’s take prohibition to threatened 

species, including the Spotted Owl. 50 C.F.R. 17.31; 55 Fed. Reg. 26114 (June 26, 1990). 

21. Congress intended the term “ take”  to be defined in the “broadest possible manner 

to include every conceivable way”  in which a person could harm or kill fish or wildlife.  S. Rep. 

No. 307, 93rd Cong., 1st Sess. 1, reprinted in 1973 U.S. Code Cong. & Admin. News 2989, 2995.  

The term “ take”  is defined as “ to harass, harm, pursue, hunt, shoot, wound, kill, trap, capture, or 

collect, or to attempt to engage in any such conduct.”   16 U.S.C. §1532(18).  FWS regulations 

define “harm” to include “significant habitat modification or degradation where it actually kills 

or injures wildlife by significantly impairing essential behavioral patterns, including breeding, 

feeding or sheltering.”   50 C.F.R. 17.3.  The term “harass”  is defined to mean “an intentional or 

negligent act or omission which creates the likelihood of injury to wildlife by annoying it to such 

an extent as to significantly disrupt normal behavioral patterns which include, but are not limited 

to, breeding, feeding, or sheltering.”   50 C.F.R. 17.3.  The regulatory definitions of “harm” and 

“harass”  have been upheld by the United States Supreme Court.  Babbitt v. Sweet Home Chapter 

of Communities for a Great Oregon, 515 U.S. 687 (1995). 

22. All “persons,”  including any “officer, employee, agent, department, or 

instrumentality of the Federal Government, [or] of any State,”  are subject to the ESA’s take 

prohibition.  16 U.S.C. §1532(13).  Additionally, the ESA citizen suit provision authorizes 

lawsuits against any “person”  alleged to be in violation of the Act, including any governmental 
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instrumentality or agency to the extent permitted by the Eleventh Amendment.  16 U.S.C. 

§1540(g)(1). 

23. Under Section 10(a) of the Act, the FWS may issue incidental take permits to 

applicants who submit a Habitat Conservation Plan (HCP) that must include, inter alia, 

conservation measures designed to minimize and mitigate the impacts of taking species listed 

under the Act.  16 U.S.C. §1539(a).  FWS has issued at least fifteen permits throughout 

Washington, Oregon, and California that authorize the incidental “ take”  of Northern Spotted 

Owls.  These include a permit issued to WDNR authorizing “ take”  resulting from forest practices 

on State lands and a permit issued to Weyerhaeuser authorizing “ take”  resulting from forest 

practices on its Millicoma Tree Farm in Oregon.  The approximately 50,000 acres of Spotted 

Owl habitat on private forestlands affected by this suit are not covered by an incidental take 

permit. 

24. Under Section 11(g) of the Act, a person may commence an action to enjoin any 

person, including state agency officials, from violating the ESA or any regulation issued under 

the Act.  16 U.S.C. §1540(g)(1)(A).  Where a violation of the Section 9 “ take”  prohibition is 

alleged, a Court must issue an injunction if a plaintiff establishes by a preponderance of the 

evidence that there is “a reasonably certain threat of imminent harm to a protected species.”   

Defenders of Wildlife v. Bernal, 204 F.3d 920, 925 (9th Cir. 2000).  Because Congress has 

accorded the protection of endangered species the highest of priorities, courts do not have the 

discretion to withhold injunctive relief where it is necessary to prevent an imminent and likely 

violation of the ESA.  Tennessee Valley Auth. v. Hill, 437 U.S. 153, 184 (1978). 
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V. STATEMENT OF FACTS 

A. Spotted Owl Biology and Conservation Status. 

25. The Spotted Owl (Strix occidentalis caurina) is a dark to chestnut brown bird with 

round or oval white spots and dark eyes.  The Spotted Owl ranges along the Pacific coast region 

from southern British Columbia to Marin County, California.  The average adult size is about 18 

inches tall, with a wing span of approximately 48 inches.  Spotted Owls can live up to 10 years in 

the wild. 

26. Spotted Owls are highly territorial and are habitat specialists.  Spotted Owls feed 

on small forest mammals and require thousands of acres of suitable foraging habitat within a 

single territorial home range.  In SOSEAs, the median home range of a Spotted Owl or breeding 

pair has been defined administratively as a circle with a radius of 1.8 (in the Washington 

Cascades) or 2.7 miles (on the Olympic Peninsula) around a Spotted Owl “site center,”  defined 

as the verified location of a territorial owl or pair of owls.  See WAC 222-16-010 (Definitions of 

“Median home range circle”  and “Northern Spotted Owl site center” ).  These administratively 

defined median home ranges are referred to as “owl circles.”  

27. Spotted Owls typically nest in cavities or platforms in large trees and snags, but 

do not necessarily nest every year.  Females lay one to three eggs in late March or April.  

Incubation is about 30 days.  Juveniles leave the nest in late May or June, about 35 days after 

hatching.  In September or October, juvenile Spotted Owls disperse in search of new territories 

but typically do not acquire territories until they reach one to four years old. 
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28. Dispersing juvenile Spotted Owls require dispersal habitat where they can find 

food and shelter while searching for new territories.  With adequate dispersal habitat, juvenile 

owls can disperse over relatively large distances. 

29. The term “suitable spotted owl habitat,”  as defined in Washington’s forest 

practices regulations and used herein, includes “old forest”  habitat, “sub-mature”  habitat and 

“young-forest marginal”  habitat.  In general, a forest stand constitutes suitable Spotted Owl 

habitat if it has at least some of the key structural characteristics associated with old forests, 

including:  a relatively closed, layered, multi-species canopy where most of the canopy closure is 

provided by large overstory trees; large trees or snags with deformities suitable for nesting sites; 

and downed large woody debris of sufficient volume to support populations of the Spotted Owl 

prey species.   

30. Younger forests that exhibit some of the structural characteristics of old forest 

habitat can provide suitable habitat for some, but not necessarily all, of the essential behavioral 

functions of Spotted Owls.  Recent clearcuts and young even-age stands that possess none of the 

structural characteristics of old forests do not constitute suitable Spotted Owl habitat. 

31. Spotted Owls in Southwest Washington and on the Olympic Peninsula require 

more habitat than Spotted Owls found in other parts of the Owl’s range.  The configuration of the 

habitat is also important as Spotted Owls have large home ranges, are highly territorial, and tend 

to remain in the same territory year after year.  Loss of habitat within the home range territory 

reduces foraging opportunities and affects the reproductive success and survival of a resident 

Spotted Owl. 
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32. Both the rate of occurrence of Spotted Owls and their reproductive output is 

greater in territorial home ranges that have higher amounts of suitable habitat.  An appreciable 

decrease in occupancy, survival, and reproduction occurs where the amount of available suitable 

habitat drops below 40 percent of the total land area within an Owl’s territorial home range. 

 33. Recognizing the serious threats facing the species, on June 26, 1990, the FWS 

listed the Spotted Owl as “ threatened.”   55 Fed. Reg. 26,114 (June 26, 1990).  The listing notice 

explained that the Spotted Owl is threatened throughout its range “…by the loss and adverse 

modification of suitable habitat as the result of timber harvesting and exacerbated by catastrophic 

events such as fire, volcanic eruptions, and wind storms.”   Id. at 26,151. 

34. Since the listing decision, Spotted Owl populations have experienced a prolonged 

and accelerating decline.  Spotted Owl populations have been declining at an average annual rate 

of about 3.7 percent throughout the owls’  range and at an average annual rate of about 7.3 

percent in Washington.  Populations have declined 50 to 60 percent in some Washington study 

areas since 1992.  Population declines have been greater on private lands than on federal lands.  

Other indicators of population health such as survival rates and the number of fledged young are 

also declining in relation to the 1990s.  As of 2006, there have been 1,044 territorial owl sites 

established in Washington.  Given the 50 to 60 percent decline over the past 14 years, it is likely 

that less than 500 pairs of Spotted Owls remain in Washington. 

35. In 1994, 1996, and 2002, FWS ranked the Spotted Owl’s status as “declining,”  a 

designation meaning a “species known to be decreasing in numbers and/or whose threats to their 

continued existence are increasing in the wild.”   FWS has rated both the degree of threat to the 

Spotted Owl and the potential for recovery to be “high.”  
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 36. The Spotted Owl continues to face significant risks that are comparable or greater 

in magnitude to those faced by the species in 1990.  The Spotted Owl also faces new threats, 

such as the West Nile Virus and competition from the Barred Owl (Strix varia).  Clearcutting and 

other even-aged harvest methods, which destroy nesting, roosting, foraging and dispersal habitat, 

continue to pose a significant threat to the Spotted Owl.  The myriad threats Spotted Owls face 

increases the importance of protecting the remaining suitable habitat to the conservation and 

recovery of the Spotted Owl. 

B. Protection of Habitat is Essential to Spotted Owl Conservation. 

37. Protection of suitable Spotted Owl habitat is necessary to ensure the survival and 

recovery of the Spotted Owl in Washington.   

38. The 1994 Northwest Forest Plan is a cornerstone of Spotted Owl conservation 

efforts in the Pacific Northwest.  The Northwest Forest Plan is built on the concept of a system of 

connected habitat reserves that support clusters of owls that are situated close enough together to 

allow demographic interchange.  Federal land between the reserves are managed to maintain 

sufficient habitat for the owls to disperse between clusters.  The Northwest Forest Plan set aside 

approximately 2.25 million acres of federal forest lands as habitat reserves for the species. 

39. The authors of the Northwest Forest Plan anticipated that, notwithstanding the 

Plan’s significant habitat protections for federal lands, owl populations would continue to decline 

at an annual rate of about one percent over the next 50 years before stabilizing as new Spotted 

Owl habitat became established in the federal reserves.  Despite the continued implementation of 

the Northwest Forest Plan, the actual rate of the decline of the Spotted Owl has been greater than 

predicted in the Plan.   
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 40. The federal reserves established by the Northwest Forest Plan are, by themselves, 

insufficient to ensure the recovery of the Spotted Owl in Washington.  Spotted Owl recovery in 

Washington also requires the protection of suitable habitat on non-federal lands, especially in 

light of recent, unanticipated population declines and new threats such as competition from the 

Barred Owl. 

41. Spotted owl recovery requires maintenance of the distribution of Spotted Owl 

populations throughout the range of ecological conditions and geographic locations in which the 

owl has historically resided.  Maintaining the historic distribution of Spotted Owl populations 

also reduces the risk of extirpation. 

 42. As used herein, “Southwest Washington”  means the approximately 1.7 million 

acres in Washington south of State Highway 12 and west of Interstate 5.  Defendant 

Weyerhaeuser is the largest private landowner in Southwest Washington. 

 43. Preservation of suitable Spotted Owl habitat in Southwest Washington is 

important to Spotted Owl conservation and recovery.  Suitable Spotted Owl habitat in Southwest 

Washington contributes to maintaining the distribution of the species in a large portion of the 

species’  historic range.  Southwest Washington habitat also allows for demographic interchange 

between Spotted Owl populations on the Olympic Peninsula and those inhabiting the Oregon 

Coast Range and the Washington Cascades.  Without demographic interchange from other 

regions, the Olympic Peninsula Spotted Owl population will become genetically isolated and 

increasingly vulnerable to expiration. 
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C. State Regulatory Mechanisms Fail to Protect Spotted Owl Habitat. 

  44. The Washington Department of Wildlife listed the Spotted Owl as a state 

endangered species in 1988.  However, the State endangered species law does not prohibit or 

regulate forest practices that destroy suitable spotted owl habitat. 

45. In 1990, FWS issued a guidance document recommending the following strategies 

to avoid or reduce the risk of incidental take of Spotted Owls from logging operations: (1) avoid 

any logging that results in less than 70 acres of the best available suitable Spotted Owl habitat 

encompassing the nest site; (2) avoid any logging that results in less than 500 acres of suitable 

Spotted Owl habitat within a 0.7 mile radius (1,000 acres) of a nest site; and (3) avoid any 

logging that results in less than 40 percent coverage of suitable Spotted Owl habitat within a 

median home range circle. 

46. In 1992 the WFPB adopted an interim forest practices rule relating to the Spotted 

Owl.  The 1992 rule defined Spotted Owl “critical habitat”  as the 500 acres of suitable habitat 

around a Spotted Owl “site center”  and required environmental review under the State 

Environmental Policy Act (SEPA), RCW Ch. 43.21C, of proposed forest practices affecting 

critical habitat.  The 1992 rule did not prohibit logging of critical habitat.  

47. The WFPB also convened a Scientific Advisory Group (SAG) to provide 

scientific advice on permanent Spotted Owl conservation measures.  The 1993 SAG Report 

described the amount and type of habitat Spotted Owls require in different regions of the State 

and identified 15 important landscapes for maintaining Spotted Owl populations in Washington.  

The 1993 SAG Report identified Southwest Washington and the North Olympic Peninsula as 



 

 

COMPLAINT - 16 Washington Forest Law Center  
615 Second Ave., Suite 360 

Seattle, WA 98104 
(206) 223-4088 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

two of the 15 important landscapes with essential spotted owl habitat and sites critical for 

providing demographic interchange. 

48. In 1996, the WFPB rescinded the interim 500-acre rule and promulgated final 

forest practices rules relating to the Spotted Owl.  The final rules designate ten “Spotted Owl 

Special Emphasis Areas”  (“SOSEAs”).  The rules do not designate a SOSEA in Southwest 

Washington or the North Olympic Peninsula, despite the documented presence of spotted owl 

site centers in those regions and the importance of those areas to the survival and recovery of the 

Spotted Owl. 

49. According to the rules, preservation of all suitable habitat within 0.7 miles of a 

site center and 40 percent of the suitable habitat within an owl circle is “generally assumed to be 

necessary to maintain the viability of the owl(s) associated with each northern spotted owl site 

center, in the absence of more specific data or a mitigation plan.”   WAC 222-10-041(4).  The 

assumption is generally consistent with the 1990 take avoidance guidance issued by FWS.   

50. Within the ten SOSEAs designated by the rule, the rules requires SEPA review of 

proposed forest practices affecting suitable Spotted Owl habitat within an owl circle.   Within the 

ten SOSEAs, for any proposal to harvest suitable Spotted Owl habitat within 0.7 miles (1000 

acres) of a site center or to harvest suitable habitat that would leave less than 40 percent suitable 

habitat in an owl circle, the rules require the completion of an environmental impact statement 

(EIS). 

51. Outside of SOSEAs, SEPA review is required only for proposals to log the 

highest quality 70 acres of suitable habitat encompassing a nest site and only during the six 

month Spotted Owl nesting season (March 1 through August 31).  During the rest of the year 
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even the best 70 acres of habitat around a nest site—including the nest tree itself—may be logged 

without any consideration of impacts to Spotted Owls.  The rules thus purport to authorize the 

liquidation of all suitable Spotted Owl habitat outside of SOSEAs.  Washington’s forest practices 

rules for FPAs issued outside of designated SOSEAs are inconsistent with the 1990 incidental 

take avoidance guidance issued by FWS. 

52. To fix the location of Spotted Owl “site centers”  and “owl circles”  the WDNR 

consults with the Washington Department of Fish & Wildlife (WDFW).  The WDFW maintains 

the location and status of each verified territorial Spotted Owl or pair of Spotted Owls in a 

database and on a map.   

53. The information maintained in the WDFW database is out of date because the 

forest practices rules do not require landowners to survey for or report sightings of Spotted Owls.  

Survey efforts have steadily decreased since the Spotted Owl was listed, particularly on private 

land.   

54.  WDNR routinely approves FPAs proposed in suitable Spotted Owl habitat outside 

of SOSEAs without first requiring landowners to survey for Spotted Owl presence or delineate 

Spotted Owl habitat.  WDNR routinely approves FPAs proposed in suitable Spotted Owl habitat 

outside of SOSEAs without first determining whether approval and completion of a specific 

proposed FPA will take Spotted Owls in violation of the ESA. 

55. As of 2005, the WDFW database identified 62 site centers located wholly or 

partly on non-federal land outside of SOSEAs.  There are currently 13 Spotted Owl site centers 

in Southwest Washington.  Weyerhaeuser owns a significant amount of the remaining suitable 

Spotted Owl habitat in many of the Southwest Washington owl circles.   



 

 

COMPLAINT - 18 Washington Forest Law Center  
615 Second Ave., Suite 360 

Seattle, WA 98104 
(206) 223-4088 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

56. As of 2004, there were approximately 50,000 acres of suitable Spotted Owl 

habitat remaining in Washington on private land within owl circles outside of SOSEAs that were 

not covered by an ESA Section 10 incidental take permit.  This represents less than one percent 

of private forestland in Washington.  

57. In 1996, the FWS proposed a rule under Section 4(d) of the ESA, 16 U.S.C. 

§1533(d), that would have removed the ESA’s prohibition against take for Spotted Owls 

incidentally harmed by WDNR-approved forest practices occurring in compliance with the 1996 

state forest practices regulations.  See 60 Fed. Reg. 9,483 (February 17, 1995) & 61 Fed. Reg. 

21,426 (May 10, 1996).  However, FWS never published a final rule exempting any Washington 

forest practices from the take prohibition applicable to the Spotted Owl. 

D. Washington’s Forest Practices Rules Authorize Forest Practices Outside of SOSEAs That 
Take Spotted Owls. 

 
 58. Under Washington law, significant logging operations cannot occur on private 

land without WDNR approval of an FPA.  RCW 76.09.050; WAC 222-16-050.  WDNR 

evaluates FPAs based on regulations adopted by the WFPB under the State Forest Practices Act, 

RCW Ch. 76.09. 

59. Washington’s forest practices rules authorize the destruction of suitable Spotted 

Owl habitat outside of designated SOSEAs.  Outside of SOSEAs, the rules allow WDNR to 

approve FPAs allowing all but 70 acres of suitable Spotted Owl habitat around a Spotted Owl 

nest site to be destroyed during the six month nesting season without any environmental review 

under SEPA.  Outside of SOSEAs, even those 70 acres of habitat, including the nest itself, may 

be destroyed outside the nesting season, again without any review under SEPA.   
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60. Washington’s forest practices rules allow WDNR to approve logging and other 

forest practices that are likely to take Spotted Owls and destroy their habitat.  Because the State 

forest practices rules do not provide any permanent protection for suitable Spotted Owl habitat 

outside of SOSEAs, they offer no assurance that FPAs approved by State Defendants outside of 

SOSEAs will not take Spotted Owls. 

61. Under the rules, it is likely that most Spotted Owls that live outside of SOSEAs 

and that are dependent on non-federal land for habitat will be severely impacted or eliminated.  

WDNR came to the same conclusion in an EIS it prepared in support of the WFPB’s 1996 rules.  

See Final Environmental Impact Statement on Forest Practices Rule Proposals for Northern 

Spotted Owl, Marbled Murrelet, and Western Gray Squirrel, Washington Forest Practices Board 

(1996), at 2-73. 

62. Because no SOSEA was established in Southwest Washington, Washington’s 

forest practices rules afford Spotted Owls in Southwest Washington no protection from “ take”  

resulting from logging that destroys suitable Spotted Owl habitat. 

E. WDNR Approves FPAs Outside of SOSEAs that Harm Spotted Owls. 
 

63. Pursuant to the State’s forest practices rules, the WDNR approves FPAs outside 

of SOSEAs that harm Spotted Owls.  WDNR-approved forest practices outside of SOSEAs harm 

Spotted Owls by, among other things, causing significant habitat modification or degradation that 

significantly impairs essential behavioral patterns of the Spotted Owl, including nesting, 

roosting, foraging and dispersal.  WDNR-approved forest practices outside of SOSEAs also 

harass Spotted Owls by annoying them to such an extent as to significantly disrupt their normal 
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behavioral patterns.  The WDNR takes Spotted Owls by approving FPAs in suitable Spotted Owl 

habitat in owl circles outside of SOSEAs. 

64. For example, between 1998 and 2002, WDNR approved FPAs allowing the 

logging of 350 acres of suitable Spotted Owl habitat within the First Creek owl circle near Cle 

Elum (Site 1223), even though a breeding pair of owls had been observed in that circle during 

that time and the amount of suitable habitat in the circle was less than 35 percent of the total area 

of circle.  On or about July 3, 2002, WDNR approved an FPA authorizing the harvest of 104 

acres of suitable habitat within 0.7 miles of the First Creek site center, including the nest tree and 

much of the 70 acres of highest quality habitat around the nest tree.  The significant habitat 

modification authorized by these FPAs has harmed Spotted Owls by significantly impairing 

essential behavioral patterns including foraging, sheltering, breeding and dispersing and has 

harassed Spotted Owls by annoying them to such an extent as to significantly disrupt their 

normal behavioral patterns. 

65. Also in 2002, WDNR approved an FPA allowing the harvest of Site 1106 in 

Southwest Washington, as well as part of the 70 acres of highest quality habitat around that site 

center.  As of August 2006, an application to harvest additional habitat within the 70 acre area 

around the site center was still pending before the agency.  The significant habitat modification 

authorized or proposed to be authorized by these FPAs harms Spotted Owls by significantly 

impairing essential behavioral patterns including foraging, sheltering, breeding and dispersing, 

and harasses Spotted Owls by annoying them to such an extent as to significantly disrupt their 

normal behavioral patterns. 
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66. The WDNR has approved dozens of FPAs authorizing Weyerhaeuser to destroy 

suitable Spotted Owl habitat in owl circles in Southwest Washington that currently contain less 

than 40 percent suitable habitat but that are still occupied by Spotted Owls.  These WDNR-

approved FPAs are likely to harm or harass Spotted Owls.  Specifically, the WDNR has 

approved FPAs submitted by Weyerhaeuser authorizing the destruction of suitable Spotted Owl 

habitat in the following owl circles. 

1. Owl Circle Nos. 1234 (Pioneer Creek-North River) and 645 (Blue Mountain). 

67. Owl Circle No. 645 (Blue Mountain) is centered approximately 11 miles south of 

Elma, Washington in Township 16 North, Range 6 West, Section 35 in Grays Harbor County.  

Owl Circle No. 645 was established in 1982 with the observation of a single Spotted Owl.  Since 

then surveys have documented single and pairs of owls in the circle, including a pair in 2006.  

For regulatory purposes, Owl Circle 645 is classified as a status 1 (pair or reproductive) median 

home range circle.  Owl Circle 645 currently supports and is occupied by Spotted Owls and 

contains less than 40 percent suitable habitat. 

68. Owl Circle No. 1234 (Pioneer Creek-North River) is located about 10 miles south 

of Satsop, Washington in Township 16 North, 6 West, Section 28, in Grays Harbor County.  Owl 

Circle No. 1234 overlaps Owl Circle No. 645.  Weyerhaeuser owns about 85 percent of the land 

within the circle.  Owl Circle No. 1234 was established in 2001 with the discovery of a nesting 

pair and nest site on Weyerhaeuser land.  Single owls were observed at the site in 1982, 1987, 

1991, 1992, and 1999.  Pairs of owls were observed in 2002, 2003, 2005 and 2006 with 

successful reproduction occurring in 2001 and 2004.  For regulatory purposes, Owl Circle 1234 

is classified as a status 1 (pair or reproductive) median home range circle.  Owl Circle No. 1234 
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currently supports and is occupied by Spotted Owls and contains less than 40 percent suitable 

habitat. 

69. Since 1996, WDNR has approved FPAs submitted by Weyerhaeuser authorizing 

the destruction of at least 750 acres of suitable Spotted Owl habitat in overlapping Owl Circle 

Nos. 1234 (Pioneer Creek-North River) and 645 (Blue Mountain), including 125 acres of suitable 

habitat within 0.7 miles of these site centers.  WDNR has also approved an FPA submitted by 

Green Diamond Resource Company authorizing the destruction of 95 acres of suitable Spotted 

Owl habitat in Site 645.  These FPAs authorize significant habitat modification that is likely to 

harm Spotted Owls by significantly impairing the essential behavioral patterns of foraging, 

sheltering, breeding and dispersal, and that is likely to harass Spotted Owls by annoying them to 

such an extent as to significantly disrupt their normal behavioral patterns. 

2. Owl Circle No. 851 (Elk Creek-Chehalis River). 

70. Owl Circle No. 851 (Elk Creek-Chehalis River) is located approximately 14 miles 

east of Raymond, Washington in Township 14 North, Range 6 West, Section 21 in Pacific 

County.  Weyerhaeuser owns all but about 2.5 square miles (about 11 percent) of the land within 

the circle.  The owl circle was established in 1992 with the observation of a nesting pair with two 

juveniles.  Since 1992, spotted owls are known to have produced young at the site in 1994, 1996, 

1997, 1998, 2001, and 2004.  Pairs or single Northern Spotted Owls were observed within the 

circle every year that reproduction did not occur, including 2005.  For regulatory purposes, Site 

851 is classified as a status 1 (pair or reproductive) median home range circle.  As of 1996, 

Weyerhaeuser owned approximately 1040 acres of suitable Spotted Owl habitat within Owl 
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Circle No. 851.  Site 851 currently supports and is occupied by Spotted Owls and contains less 

than 40 percent suitable habitat. 

71. Since 1996, WDNR has approved FPAs submitted by Weyerhaeuser authorizing 

the destruction of approximately 200 acres of suitable Spotted Owl habitat in Owl Circle No. 851 

(Elk Creek-Chehalis River), including 10 acres of suitable habitat within 0.7 miles of the site 

center.  These FPAs authorize significant habitat modification that is likely to harm Spotted Owls 

by significantly impairing the essential behavioral patterns of foraging, sheltering, breeding and 

dispersal, and harass Spotted Owls by annoying them to such an extent as to significantly disrupt 

their normal behavioral patterns. 

3. Owl Circle No. 758 (Ellis Creek) 

72. Owl Circle No. 758 (Ellis Creek) is located approximately four miles south of 

Lebam, Washington in Township 12 North, Range 7 West, Section 20 in Pacific County.  

Weyerhaeuser owns all of the land within the 2.2 mile radius of the site center, and all but about 

one-half square mile within the 2.7 mile radius of the site center.  Owl Circle No. 758 was 

established in 1991 with three observations of a resident female Spotted Owl.  A pair of owls was 

detected in 1992 and detections of single spotted owls occurred in 1994, 1995, 1996, 1997, and 

2003.  For regulatory purposes, Site 758 is classified as a status 2 (two birds, status unknown) 

median home range circle.  As of 1995, there were approximately 750 acres of suitable habitat in 

Weyerhaeuser ownership within 2.2 miles of the site center.  Owl Circle No. 758 supports and is 

occupied by Spotted Owls and contains less than 40 percent suitable habitat. 

73. Since 1996, WDNR has approved FPAs submitted by Weyerhaeuser authorizing 

the destruction of over 100 acres of suitable Spotted Owl habitat in Owl Circle No. 758 (Ellis 
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Creek), including 15 acres of suitable habitat within 0.7 miles of the site center.  These FPAs 

authorize significant habitat modification that is likely to harm Spotted Owls by significantly 

impairing the essential behavioral patterns of foraging, sheltering, breeding and dispersal, and 

harass Spotted Owls by annoying them to such an extent as to significantly disrupt their normal 

behavioral patterns. 

F. WDNR Is Likely to Continue Issuing FPAs Authorizing the Destruction of Spotted Owl 
Habitat Within Owl Circles Outside of SOSEAs. 
 
74. It is both likely and reasonably foreseeable that Weyerhaeuser and other forest 

landowners will continue submitting FPAs to WDNR seeking authorization to conduct forest 

practices in suitable Spotted Owl habitat in owl circles outside of SOSEAs.  The State’s forest 

practices rules offer no significant protection for suitable Spotted Owl habitat in owl circles 

outside of SOSEAs.  WDNR and the WFPB have been informed that approval of FPAs for 

logging of suitable Spotted Owl habitat in circles outside of SOSEAs takes Spotted Owls.  

WDNR approves FPAs that comply with the State’s forest practices rules.  Therefore, unless 

enjoined by the Court, it is both likely and reasonably foreseeable that WDNR will continue 

approving FPAs that authorize significant habitat modification that actually injures or kills 

Spotted Owls by significantly impairing essential behavior patterns including foraging, 

sheltering, breeding and dispersal.  

G. Weyerhaeuser Logging Is Destroying Suitable Spotted Owl Habitat Resulting in Harm to 
Spotted Owls. 

 
75. In 1994, Weyerhaeuser began preparing temporary “habitat management plans”  

for at least seven of the owl site centers within its ownership.  The habitat management plans did 

not meet the requirements established under Section 10(a) of the ESA, 16 U.S.C. §1539(a), for 
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an HCP.  The habitat management plans were intended to provide interim protection while 

Weyerhaeuser developed a region-wide, multi-species HCP to protect species on its land.  In the 

habitat management plans, Weyerhaeuser agreed not to harvest any habitat within 2.2 miles of 

the site centers since each of these circles had less than 40 percent habitat remaining at the time 

the plans were developed.  The habitat management plans were effective through the spring of 

1999. 

76. Weyerhaeuser never received approval from FWS for an HCP covering its 

Washington state forest lands.  Nor has Weyerhaeuser received from FWS an incidental take 

permit for logging operations in Washington that take Spotted Owls. 

77. Since the expiration of its habitat management plans, Weyerhaeuser has 

conducted logging operations pursuant to the WDNR-approved FPAs discussed in paragraphs 66 

to 73 above.  These logging operations harm Spotted Owls by causing significant habitat 

modification or degradation that significantly impairs essential Spotted Owl behavioral patterns, 

including nesting, roosting, foraging and dispersal.  These logging operations also harass Spotted 

Owls by annoying them to such an extent as to significantly disrupt their normal behavioral 

patterns. 

78. Unless enjoined by the Court, it is both likely and reasonably foreseeable that 

Weyerhaeuser will continue to conduct logging operations in suitable Spotted Owl habitat in owl 

circles outside of SOSEAs that will destroy suitable Spotted Owl habitat.  These logging 

operations pose a reasonably certain threat of imminent harm to Spotted Owls. 
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VI . CAUSES OF ACTION 

First Claim for Relief 
(ESA Claim Against Defendants Sutherland, Christiansen and WDNR) 

 
79. Plaintiffs hereby allege and incorporate by reference all of the preceding 

paragraphs. 

80. Defendants Sutherland, Christiansen and WDNR are subject to the take 

prohibition in Section 9(a) of the ESA, 16 U.S.C. § 1538(a), and are subject to suit under the 

ESA citizen suit provision, 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g).  Defendants Sutherland, Christiansen and 

WDNR do not hold an incidental take permit or enjoy any other exemption authorizing the take 

of Spotted Owls. 

81. Defendants Sutherland, Christiansen and WDNR take Spotted Owls in violation 

of Section 9 of the Act, 16 U.S.C. §1538, by approving FPAs that authorize private landowners 

to conduct forest practices in owl circles outside of SOSEAs that (1) result in significant 

modification and destruction of suitable Spotted Owl habitat which actually injures or kills 

Spotted Owls by significantly impairing their essential behavioral patterns and (2) annoy Spotted 

Owls to such an extent as to significantly disrupt their normal behavioral patterns. 

82. Unless enjoined by the Court, Defendants Sutherland, Christiansen and WDNR 

will continue taking Spotted Owls in violation of Section 9 of the Act, 16 U.S.C. §1538, by 

approving FPAs that authorize private landowners to harm or harass Spotted Owls in the manner 

described above.  
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Second Claim for Relief 
(Declaratory Judgment Claim Against Defendant WFPB and its members) 

 
83. Plaintiffs hereby allege and incorporate by reference all of the preceding 

paragraphs. 

84. Defendants Sutherland, Christiansen, Mauermann, Laurie, Wick, Moran, Somers, 

Stinson, Fox, Hagiwara, Soicher, Murray, Kelly, and the WFPB have promulgated and 

maintained forest practices regulations that purport to authorize the take of Spotted Owls in owl 

circles outside of SOSEAs in violation of federal law.  WFPB regulations that purport to 

authorize violations of Section 9 of the ESA, 16 U.S.C. § 1538, are preempted by federal law and 

are invalid under the Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution. 

Third Claim for Relief 
(ESA Claim Against Defendant Weyerhaeuser) 

 
85. Plaintiffs hereby allege and incorporate by reference all of the preceding 

paragraphs. 

86. Defendant Weyerhaeuser is subject to the take prohibition in Section 9(a) of the 

ESA, 16 U.S.C. § 1538(a), and is subject to suit under the ESA citizen suit provision, 16 U.S.C. 

§ 1540.  Weyerhaeuser does not hold an incidental take permit or enjoy any other exemption 

authorizing the take of Spotted Owls in Washington State.  

87. Defendant Weyerhaeuser’s WDNR-approved logging operations in Owl Circles 

No. 645 (Blue Mountain) and No. 1234 (Pioneer Creek-North River); Owl Circle No. 851 (Elk 

Creek-Chehalis River); Owl Circle No. 758 (Ellis Creek); and in other owl circles outside of 

SOSEAs harm or harass Spotted Owls in violation of Section 9 of the Act, 16 U.S.C. §1538. 
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88. Unless enjoined by the Court, Defendant Weyerhaeuser will continue proposing, 

seeking approval of, and completing forest practices in suitable Spotted Owl habitat in owl 

circles outside of SOSEAs—including but not limited to Owl Circle Nos. 645, 1234, 851, and 

758—that will take Spotted Owls in violation of Section 9 of the Act, 16 U.S.C. §1538. 

VI I . PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 Wherefore, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court grant the following relief:  

A. Declare that Defendants Sutherland, Christiansen and WDNR are violating 

Section 9 of the ESA, 16 U.S.C. §1538, by issuing FPAs that authorize private landowners to 

conduct forest practices in owl circles outside of SOSEAs that (1) result in significant 

modification and destruction of suitable Spotted Owl habitat which actually injures or kills 

Spotted Owls by significantly impairing their essential behavioral patterns, and (2) annoy Spotted 

Owls to such an extent as to significantly disrupt their normal behavioral patterns; 

B. Declare that forest practices regulations promulgated by Defendants Sutherland, 

Christiansen, Mauermann, Laurie, Wick, Moran, Somers, Stinson, Fox, Hagiwara, Soicher, 

Murray, Kelly, and the WFPB, which purport to authorize forest practices in owl circles outside 

of SOSEAs that (1) result in significant modification and destruction of suitable Spotted Owl 

habitat which actually injures or kills Spotted Owls by significantly impairing their essential 

behavioral patterns, and (2) annoy Spotted Owls to such an extent as to significantly disrupt their 

normal behavioral patterns, are preempted by federal law and are invalid under the Supremacy 

Clause of the United States Constitution; 

C. Declare that Defendant Weyerhaeuser is violating Section 9 of the ESA, 16 

U.S.C. §1538, by conducting forest practices that harm and harass threatened Spotted Owls by: 
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(1) causing significant modification and destruction of suitable Spotted Owl habitat which 

actually injures or kills Spotted Owls by significantly impairing their essential behavioral 

patterns, and (2) annoying Spotted Owls to such an extent as to significantly disrupt their normal 

behavioral patterns; 

D. Enjoin Defendants Sutherland, Christiansen, WDNR, and their employees and 

agents from approving forest practices that destroy suitable Spotted Owl habitat in owl circles 

outside of SOSEAs until the State provides reasonable assurances that State-authorized forest 

practices will not take Spotted Owls in violation of the ESA; 

E. Enjoin Defendant Weyerhaeuser and its employees and agents from conducting 

forest practices in suitable Spotted Owl habitat in owl circles outside of SOSEAs except in 

accordance with an incidental take permit issued under Section 10 of the ESA; 

 F. Award Plaintiffs their costs and reasonable attorneys’  fees, including expert 

witness fees, as authorized by the ESA, 16 U.S.C. §1540(g)(4); and 

G. Award such other relief as this Court deems just and appropriate. 

DATED this 7th day of November, 2006. 

WASHINGTON FOREST LAW CENTER 
 

By: ________________________________ 
       Peter R. Goldman, WSBA #14789 
       Karl F. Forsgaard, WSBA #12639 
       Paul A. Kampmeier, WSBA #31560 
        
ZIONTZ, CHESTNUT, VARNELL, BERLEY & SLONIM 
 

 
By: _______________________________ 
       John B. Arum, WSBA #19813 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs Seattle Audubon Society 
and Kittitas Audubon Society 


